

Making Markets Work Better for the Poor

# discussion paper

No 07

# Agricultural Commercialization, Value Chains, and Poverty Reduction

January 2005

www.markets4poor.org

Copyright: Asian Development Bank 2004

All rights reserved.

The views expressed in this book are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views and policies of the Asian Development Bank, or its Board of Governors or the Governments they represent.

The Asian Development Bank does not guarantee the accuracy of the data included in this publication and accepts no responsibility for any consequences of their use.

Use of the term "country" does not imply any judgment by the authors or the Asian Development Bank as to the legal or other status of any territorial entity.

#### Contact:

ASIAN DEVELOPMENT BANK Viet Nam Resident Mission Unit 701-706, Sun Red River Building 23 Phan Chu Trinh Str., Ha Noi, Viet Nam

Tel: +(844) 933 1374 Fax: +(844) 933 1373

Website: www.markets4poor.org

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ГАЕ	BLE OF CONTENTS	1
1.	INTRODUCTION	2
2.	THE CONVENTIONAL VIEW OF AGRICULTURAL DEVELOPMENT	4
3.	LIMITATIONS OF THE CONVENTIONAL VIEW	5
3. 3. 3. 3. 3. 3.	1 DECLINING AGRICULTURAL COMMODITY PRICES 2 CHANGING PATTERNS OF FOOD DEMAND. 3 INCREASING GAPS BETWEEN FARM-PRICES AND CONSUMER-PRICES 4 SUPERMARKETS AS GLOBAL PLAYERS 5 CONCENTRATION OF THE GLOBAL AGRIFOOD INDUSTRY 6 CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 7 INCREASING CONNECTIVITY. 8 COMPETING CLAIMS FOR PUBLIC EXPENDITURES 9 ENVIRONMENTAL CONCERNS 10 IMPLICATIONS FOR AGRICULTURE	6891010
4.	TOWARDS A NEW VIEW OF AGRICULTURAL DEVELOPMENT	12
4. 4. 4. 4. 4.	THE KEY CHALLENGE	13 14 14 15 16
5.	THE VALUE CHAIN APPROACH	19
5.	.1 THE ISSUE OF COORDINATION AND LINKAGES	22
	IMPLEMENTATION OF THE VALUE CHAIN APPROACH	
6.	.1 LINKAGES	24
	THE VALUE CHAIN APPROACH AND IMPLICATIONS FOR AGRICULTURE AND R	_
7. 7.	.1 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE POOR	29 30 30
В.	CONCLUSIONS	32
n	DEEDENCES	22

# 1. INTRODUCTION \*

- 1. An increasing number of developing countries have achieved food self-sufficiency or food security for the majority of their population. This has been the case in several Asian countries, including the most populated ones such as China, India, Bangladesh, and Indonesia, and other smaller countries such as Viet Nam, Cambodia, and Sri Lanka. These countries share some common features such as a large rural population, a large share of the labor force employed in agriculture, a vast majority of smallholder farms, and a declining share of agriculture in GDP. All of these countries have benefited from adoption of new high yielding varieties of food grains.
- 2. The success of policies targeted to increase agricultural productivity for staple grains (commonly referred as to as the Green Revolution) has created its own problems. Declining real commodity prices have benefited consumers and contributed to higher real wages. As a result, the income prospects of smallholder farmers are not promising. It is increasingly difficult for farmers with smaller and smaller landholdings to keep up with the growth of the rest of the economy; the income gap between rural and urban areas is increasing; agriculture is not capable of absorbing an increasing labor force; and the possibility of major migration to already congested major urban areas raises the prospects of slums and urban poverty. Global trends in the agrifood industry suggest the continuation of the decline in commodity prices, a more competitive world trade environment, and the emergence of global value chains that are able to respond to the increasing demands of world-wide consumers for safer, higher quality, and more convenient food products. Unorganized and frequently insufficiently educated smallholder farmers face the prospects of remaining isolated from these global trends.
- 3. The broad process of structural transformation of an economy in which an increasing proportion of economic output and employment are generated by sectors other than agriculture is well known in economic history. Related to this structural transformation is the process of agricultural transformation by which individual farms shift from highly diversified, subsistence-oriented production towards more specialized production oriented towards the market or other systems of exchange (e.g., long-term contracts). The process involves a greater reliance on input and output delivery systems and increased integration of agriculture with other sectors of the domestic and international economies.
- 4. Less known is the strategy to facilitate the process of agricultural transformation. During any process of change there will be winners and losers. The process of agricultural transformation is no different. Commercialization might increase the pressure on a fragile eco-system; it might lead to concentration of assets; it will lead to a demise of traditional farming systems and a more intensive use of technology and formal processes that will be reflected in different power relations within the households, the village, and society; it might lead to loss of biodiversity and pollution; it might be promoting cultural attitudes that go against social norms and restrictions; it might promote new roles for women that are not accepted by society. These are some examples of negative effects or conflicts that

.

<sup>\*</sup> This paper is prepared by Francesco Goletti, Agrifood Consulting Company, www.agrifoodconsulting.com

accompany the process of agricultural transformation. Conversely, there are examples of positive effects, such as higher income, more employment for the poor, greater consumer satisfaction, and recognition of women's role in agriculture and improvement of their access to assets, information and decision-making. It is important to realize who will gain and who will lose in this process, and mitigate the negative impacts.

- 5. Current strategies for agricultural development are informed by what this paper refers to as the *Conventional View of Agricultural Development (CVAD)*. This view regards agricultural productivity growth for food staples (within the context of Asia this refers primarily to rice and wheat) as the engine of growth. It emphasizes the role of smallholder farmers in adopting productivity enhancing technologies that will increase grain production, generate a surplus that could be reinvested in other sectors and contribute to poverty reduction through lower food prices and absorption of rural labor. The CVAD stresses the role of technology and smallholder producers. It argues that strong linkages of agriculture with other sectors of the economy will set in motion the process of transformation of agriculture and the economy. The view has been articulated since the days of the Green Revolution and is still the major conceptual framework informing agricultural policies in most developing countries in Asia.
- 6. Unfortunately, the conventional view of agricultural development is no longer useful in tackling the current problems and issue facing the agricultural sector in the countries where basic food needs of the population are met and the pressure of global trends does not promise well for smallholder farmers engaged in grain production and with increasingly smaller landholdings.
- 7. This paper views agricultural development from the perspective of a value chain approach that centers on (i) the role of facilitating linkage providers to accelerate the process of structural transformation of rural areas and (ii) on rural enterprises as the key actors in promoting growth and reducing poverty.
- 8. Contrary to the conventional view of agricultural development that considers increases in food staples agricultural productivity as the engine of growth and primary factor in poverty reduction in poor developing countries the paper argues that a *consumer-oriented approach* in agricultural development has the advantage of structuring transactions in a manner that improves efficiency and incentives throughout the rural economy. A reorientation towards the consumer requires the development of rural business enterprises and commercial structures that can sufficiently organize marketing channels in a manner that meets consumer demands.
- 9. Such a strategic shift has significant implications on the poor, with the poor benefiting as producers, entrepreneurs, wage earners, and consumers. While it will entail a shift out of agriculture for many rural households, improved commercialization will promote the creation of new opportunities that can stimulate growth in the non-farm sector. This approach also has positive non-economic effects for the poor, such as improved health arising from higher food safety standards, improved access to information from better communication technologies, and more sustainable agricultural practices arising from compliance with increasing environment consumer concerns.
- 10. This paper examines three issues:

- Global trends in agriculture and rural areas
- The implications of the global trends for farmers and the poor in developing countries
- The implications of the global trends for a strategy of agricultural development
- 11. The paper is organized into 8 sections. Section 2 describes the main feature of the conventional view of agricultural development. Section 3 shows the limitations of the conventional view in the current context arising from the success of the Green Revolution and the global changes in the agrifood system. Section 4 presents some elements towards a new view of agricultural development. Section 5 describes the value chain approach key concepts that underlie a new view of agricultural development centered on increasing off-farm activities. Section 6 provides some models to operationalize the key concepts of the value chain approach. Section 7 describes the implications of the value chain approach for agriculture and rural development. Section 8 concludes the paper.

#### 2. THE CONVENTIONAL VIEW OF AGRICULTURAL DEVELOPMENT

- 12. The conventional view of agricultural development (CVAD) sees agriculture as the primary engine of growth and poverty reduction in poor countries. The view emphasizes small farm agriculture growing modern variety cereal staples in relatively high potential and well-connected areas, with both water control options and access to markets. The CVAD has received great support by the success of the Green Revolution in improving food security for large populations, particularly in Asia. The Green Revolution has not been successful in other regions, including most of Africa and marginal areas in developing countries.
- 13. The conventional view implies a set of prescriptions (see Maxwell 2004) that include land reforms to promote small farms; investment in research and extension to develop and spread new varieties; provision of irrigation, market, and transport infrastructure; interventions to compensate for missing or imperfect input and output markets; and procurement and public food distribution systems to stabilize prices and improve the access of food to the poor.
- 14. Over the years, the CVAD has seen various modifications including the recognition of:
  - The contribution of cash crops to farm incomes and growth linkages;
  - The importance to address the needs of resource-poor farmers in lower potential or weakly connected areas;
  - The idea of linking relief and development;
  - The role of markets in discussion about food security and more widely;
  - The stifling effect of rich country agricultural subsidies; and
  - The importance of diversification into non-agricultural enterprises.
- 15. In spite of these modifications, the basic ideas of the CVAD have not changed, particularly the idea that agricultural development has to be based on increasing productivity of smallholder producers of staple food. In the CVAD there is no mention of consumer preferences for characteristics such as variety, safety, quality, and convenience of food. The main preoccupation is with smallholders producing higher quantity of food

through higher yields made possible by modern varieties of grains and through labor intensive methods. This approach would generate sufficient food for the countries to feed themselves, employ sufficient labor to keep above poverty level, and provide a surplus for investment in non-farm activities thus contributing to overall growth through non-agricultural linkages.

16. Given the large share of agriculture in the rural economy, any increase of growth in agriculture would have larger increases in the non-agricultural share of rural economy because of strong linkages between agriculture and other sectors. The overarching focus on producers and smallholders has left little space to the attention to the role that enterprises play in the development of an agrifood system that goes beyond the production aspects.

# 3. LIMITATIONS OF THE CONVENTIONAL VIEW

- 17. There are several global trends that imply a rethinking of the conventional view of agricultural development and its associated prescriptions. The global trends are related to:
  - Declining agricultural commodity prices
  - Changing patterns of food demand
  - Increasing gaps between farmer prices and consumer prices
  - Changing global agrifood system
  - Increasing connectivity of rural areas
  - Competing demands for public expenditures
  - Increasing importance of the private sector
- 18. The following sections elaborate on each of these aspects and show why they represent limitations of the CVAD.

# 3.1 Declining agricultural commodity prices

- 19. Real prices for most agricultural commodities have decreased during the course of last century, as the result of food supplies growing faster than demand. The supply shift has been the result of increase in factors of production (land, labor, agricultural inputs), but mostly of technological change. The decline in prices (see (FAO 2000)) has spread to most of the developing world (with the exception of Africa and marginal areas) with the advent of the Green Revolution in the 1960s; since then, agricultural prices of major food staples have halved in real terms<sup>1</sup>.
- 20. The decline in agricultural commodity prices has affected different commodities differently. It has affected both staple food and other commodities. Attempts at slowing down the rate of decline have resulted either in massive accumulation of foodgrain stock, mounting fiscal deficits, or collapse of international commodity agreements.
- 21. Over the last two decades of the 20th century considerable changes have affected global commodity markets, particularly tropical commodities. The seven main tropical

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This has little to do with rich country subsidies, but quite a lot to do with the interaction between a supply curve shifting quickly to the right and a relatively inelastic demand curve shifting much more slowly in response to growing population and rising income.

agro-commodities (coffee, tobacco, cotton, sugar, rubber, tea, and cocoa) still accounted for 61.8 percent of the total agricultural exports of all tropical countries during the period 1996-99 according to FAO statistics (Gibbon 2003)Tropical commodities still remain a major link between smallholder farmers in developing countries and global markets.

- 22. The outcomes of these changes in commodity markets can be summarized as follows:
  - Declining commodity prices
  - More instability in prices
  - A higher proportion of the income generated in the chain retained in consuming countries
  - Declining level of producer-held stocks
  - Break-down of quality control measures, research and extension, and promotional activities in producing countries
- 23. There have been four basic responses by farmers to decreases in real prices. First, farmers and agricultural workers have left the farm sector and migrated to either urban areas or the industrial and service sector in rural areas. Second, farmers have increased their scale of operations, thus improving their ability to generate acceptable level of income in the face of declining prices<sup>2</sup>. Third, farmers have obtained off-farm employment in order to achieve acceptable total household incomes. Fourth, farmers have developed strategies to avoid being price takers and escaping the trend of decreasing real prices: niche markets, organic production, branding, risk management, contracts, and vertical coordination.
- 24. Future prospects suggest that the trends in declining agricultural commodity prices will continue. The four key responses of farmers (leave farms, increase farm scale, diversify income, and develop strategies to avoid being price takers) are not consistent with the CVAD based on staple growing small farmers. Either the food staples growing farmers have to grow in scale to escape poverty, or they have to be organized according to strategies (such as pursuing niches, establishing contracts for high value products, being integrated with value chains) that are not well suited to undifferentiated commodities such as staples.

# 3.2 Changing Patterns of Food Demand

25. The CVAD was predicated on the need to provide food staples to a large population that was experiencing severe food problems and hunger. Since the Green Revolution, in several Asian countries such as India, China, Viet Nam, Cambodia, and Bangladesh, food availability (and production) per capita has increased considerably, putting the specter of hunger and famines in the past. The experience of the Great Bengal Famine of 1942, the Bangladesh Famine of 1974, and the Famine in China in 1959-1960 have haunted policy makers for decades and help focusing on food production as the main requirement for agricultural development. This was so, in spite of many analyses showing that most of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For example, a one ha farm of irrigated rice producing two crops per year of 5 tons of paddy would imply a \$1,000 income to a household of 5 persons, effectively keeping the housing below the poverty level of \$1 per person per day. If the same household were to own 4 ha, then the income of \$4,000 per year would be above the \$2 per day per person.

these famine experiences were not necessarily the result of low availability of food, but the result of policies and external situations that restricted access to food and functioning of markets (Sen 1981).

- 26. At the same time, as income and urbanization have increased, the demand for food has also changed from one that is mainly based on grains to a more diversified diet including meat and dairy products, fruits, and vegetables. The change in demand has implied not only a change in the diet composition (away from staples towards non-staples) but also a change in the preferences for food characteristics, including an increasing demand for features such as safety, quality, convenience, organic, and processed foods.
- 27. Different types of organization of the agrifood system are required to accommodate the changing demand for food. Rather than a food distribution based mainly on the production, storage, processing, and distribution of durable grains, of largely undifferentiated quality, the challenge for the agricultural system is increasingly related to perishable products, differentiated products, safety issues, postharvest problems, and the emergence of a more sophisticated retail system.

# 3.3 Increasing gaps between farm-prices and consumer-prices

- 28. The difference between farmer prices and consumer prices is a reflection of various factors including the efficiency and competitiveness of the marketing system, the extent of value-adding operations that have been introduced in the supply chain, and policy interventions.
- 29. Farmers often complain about receiving low prices while the other actors in the supply chains (traders, processors, retailers, transporters, storage facilities owners, etc.) appropriate most of the value paid by the consumer. However, the large difference between farmer and consumer price might as well be the reflection of an inefficient marketing system as the reflection of exploitative behavior. In the presence of a long marketing chain which includes multiple intermediaries, repeated handling, and smallholder farmers lacking organized structures, the marketing margins are indeed high and, in the absence of policy regulations, the margins will be captured by marketing agents, who hardly make a contribution to value addition of the product.
- 30. When value-adding operations are limited, as the result of weak postharvest systems and underdeveloped agro-industry, and in the absence of policy interventions (e.g. taxes) the marketing margin should not be too high if a relatively efficient marketing system is in place. However, when various value-adding operations are introduced in the supply chain, the gap between farmer and consumer prices is going to increase substantially. The more dynamic the entrepreneurs in the value chain, the more forms of adding value will be found after production and, as consequence the gap between farm and consumer prices will increase.
- 31. The gap between farm-prices and consumer-prices is widening because more affluent and discerning consumers require an increasing number of services and attributes. As long as producers are unable to meet these requirements their share of the total value added will remain low and declining. Initiatives such as International Commodity Agreements or price supports to farmers could put a temporary halt to the major trend and could certainly benefit a number of countries and producers of agricultural commodities.

The chances for this to happen however are not very high in the short term. It would be equally important for countries and producers to start reorienting their effort towards improving quality and high value. This will require the concerted effort of several actors and the improved integration with value chains.

# 3.4 Supermarkets as Global Players

- 32. Over the latter half of the 20th century in OECD countries, supermarkets have become the dominant form of retailing grocery products. For most of this period, however, supermarkets were not a major form of retail in most developing countries, and, where they existed, were confined to niche markets for higher income consumers in major cities. During the 1990s a dramatic change has seen the emergence of supermarkets as a major form of retailing in a number of developing countries, starting from Latin America, where supermarkets in 2000 represented about 50-60% of food retail sales, moving rapidly in developing Asia (Southeast Asia and China), and currently taking place in Africa and slowly moving toward South Asia.
- 33. In the early 1990s developing countries around the world liberalized their economies, opening them up to a wide range of foreign investments, including investments in retailing. Large supermarket chains from Europe and the United States, seeing the rising incomes and urbanizing populations in developing countries, rushed into these markets.
- 34. Latin America has seen the fastest growth of supermarkets among developing regions, achieving a rate of diffusion in one decade that took five decades in the United States (Reardon 2003). Supermarkets diffusion in East and Southeast Asia is about five years behind Latin America, but supermarkets growth is proceeding at an even faster pace. Between 1999 and 2001 the supermarkets' share of retail food sales rose from 35 to 43 percent in Thailand and from 30 to 48 percent in urban China.
- 35. The major effects of supermarkets on the agrifood system are through the procurement system of large volumes of products from suppliers. Stiff competition from both small retail shops and other supermarkets results in cutting costs and raising quality and diversity. Cutting costs in turn requires the improvement of all aspects of procurement, including product and transaction costs. This is done by improving coordination and logistic systems such as distribution centers, logistics platforms, contracts with wholesalers and producers, and private standards specifying quality, safety, volume, and packaging of products (Reardon and Berdegué 2002)
- 36. The major challenge for smallholder farmers is how to become part supermarket chains. Supermarkets decide the products that farmer have to grow according to standards that are often too high for small farmers to comply with. Meeting the demand of procurement officers requires technical and management skills that small farmers often do not have. Those farmers that can access a procurement account with supermarkets are the winners. But to win implies also to make investments in equipment and logistics support often not available to small farmers.

# 3.5 Concentration of the Global Agrifood Industry

- 37. In the last two decades of the 20th century, merger and acquisition activity resulted in increased concentration of food retailing, food manufacturing, food wholesaling, food service industries, and food international trade. The trend started in Europe and North America, but is now gathering momentum in countries in Latin America, Southeast Asia and China.
- 38. In the US, the grocery sales market share of the top four retailers increased from 16.6 percent in 1996 to 27.4 percent in 2000 (USDA 2002). In trade of most tropical commodities, often 4 or 5 players play a dominant role (Vorley 2003). The top five retailers in the UK have around 70% of the grocery market, a figure which is likely to increase to 80% following the sale of Safeway. In Latin America, the top five chains have 65% of the supermarket sector (versus 40% in the US and 72% in France).
- 39. These dominant players in the retail industry are in fact the major drivers beyond a staggering flow of commodities, products, information, and finance that coordinates the activities of hundreds of million of farmers in the world and affects billions of people as consumers.
- 40. In order to function effectively, these dominant players organize production, processing, logistics, trade, and distribution of numerous other players. Suppliers are organized into value chains that act on a global scale with production carried out in numerous countries and often, by making use of different seasonality of agricultural production around the world, can provide commodities, products, and services on a consistent basis throughout the year. The specific ways of organizing these value chains differ from commodity to commodity and from value chain to value chain. What is common to different value chains, however, is the increasing concentration of the industry leading to horizontal and vertical coordination.

# 3.6 Corporate Social Responsibility

- 41. The World Business Council for Sustainable Development used the following definition: "Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) is the continuing commitment by business to behave ethically and contribute to economic development while improving the quality of life of the workforce and their families as well as of the local community and society at large".
- 42. The pressure on business to play a role in social issues is growing. Over the last ten years, those institutions which have grown in power and influence have been those which can operate effectively within a global sphere of operations. These are effectively the corporates and the NGOs. Those institutions which are predominantly tied to the nation state have been finding themselves increasingly frustrated at their lack of ability to shape and manage events. These include national governments, police, judiciary and others.
- 43. There is a growing interest, therefore, in businesses taking a lead in addressing those issues in which they have an interest where national government have failed to come up with a solution.
- 44. Corporate businesses are realizing that there exist untapped market opportunities in poverty-stricken regions of the world and among the *bottom of the pyramid* (those with less than \$2/day and constituting 80% of world population) (Prahalat 2005). Corporate

expansion into emerging economies can be structured to significantly enhance local incomes and quality of life (Halliday 2001). Making the market work for the poor involves two basic measures: enabling access to effective markets and spreading consumer purchasing power. Finding ways to generate viable income-generating activities for the poor starts to be regarded as a major component of business development.

# 3.7 Increasing Connectivity

- 45. One of the major developments in the global economy over the past 10 years has been the spread of telecommunication and internet. Mobile phones in India are increasing by 2 million per month. Internet connections in developing Asia are increasing at an impressive growth including 70% annual growth for China and India, 36% for Bangladesh and skyrocketing to 600% in Viet Nam. Even though penetration is still low (when compared to the total population), the trend is continuing and spreading to rural areas.
- 46. Rural areas in the countries where the Green Revolution has taken place have all improved the overall infrastructure (transport, water, electricity) and increased literacy both for boys and girls. To be sure, isolation still affects several parts of rural areas and marginal areas are present. However, through the combined effect of improved transport infrastructure, better communication, and increased access to education and health, there are more favorable conditions for an agricultural development that goes beyond the food self-sufficiency targets of the past.
- 47. The major implication of increasing connectivity, improved infrastructure, and better education and health in rural areas is that there is a more fertile terrain for penetration and growth of business enterprises in rural areas. Whereas the CVAD relied mostly on public research and extension organizations and on public investment in infrastructure together with subsidies to chemicals and sees, the next stage of growth of agriculture and agribusiness will have to take into account the growing potential that rural areas represent for business.

# 3.8 Competing Claims for Public Expenditures

- 48. The Green Revolution benefited greatly from huge investments in roads and irrigation and subsidies on a scale hardly conceivable today up to 10% of agricultural GDP in some cases. If agricultural growth relies on large-scale fertilizer, water and electricity subsidies, as well as major investments in roads the issue is that there are many competing claims for public expenditure, particularly in the social sectors of health and education.
- 49. Many of the advocates of the CVAD would agree that huge subsidies are not needed for an efficient agriculture and would instead support investment in agriculture research, extension, and market infrastructure. However, if taken seriously, these investments would further push commodity prices to lower levels, through higher productivity at the farm level and thus accelerate the process of agricultural transformation. Unless mechanisms to smooth the agricultural transformation are obtained which benefit farmers, ensure food security, particularly of the poor, and help the generation of employment in the off-farm sector f the agrifood system, the CVAD will actually do little to contribute to growth and poverty reduction in rural areas, and could in fact aggravate the current plight of

smallholder farmers and landless poor.

#### 3.9 Environmental Concerns

50. The success of the Green Revolution was predicated on intensive use of land and water, and increased use of chemical fertilizer and pesticides. The ensuing increase in yields has resulted in more food availability, higher farmer incomes, and cheaper real prices of food grains paid by consumers. At the same time, several environmental negative effects have emerged including heavy use of fossil fuels, falling water tables, soil problems related to salinization and compaction, and a variety of residue problems in the environment and in products leaving the farm. Despite talk of environmentally friendly options and the idea of 'regenerating agriculture', and despite the growth of niche markets for organic products, environmental considerations seem more likely to constrain agricultural growth than to accelerate it. In some cases, environmental problems are threatening the sustainability of the current mode of production; the lowering water tables in Punjab and arsenic water contamination in Bangladesh are two of the most dramatic examples.

51. Environmental concerns are also present in relation to the development of agroindustry (and it potentially negative impacts through factory effluents polluting water, soils, and air). As consumers become more affluent, urbanized, and removed from agriculture and rural areas, their concerns for a cleaner environment increase and conflicts between farmers and the general public are likely to increase over time.

# 3.10 Implications for Agriculture

- 52. The discussion above could be summarized as follows:
  - Real prices for agricultural commodities will continue to go down, and technology will continue to reduce per-unit costs of production
  - Demand for food (particularly food grains) will not increase significantly in the future, and the farm share of the retail food price will decline
  - The importance of international trade in the food and agricultural system will increase and consumers will eat a more diversified diet, more processed and convenient goods, more food away from home, more quality food, and give increasing importance to features such as safety, organic, and fair trade (particularly among the better-off consumers)
  - The role of consumers is changing and increasing in importance not only in rich countries but also in urban middle classes in developing countries. Purchasing behavior of supermarkets is changing (see EUREPGAP). Consumer advocacy groups are imposing CSR (and other requirements such as Fair Trade, CFC regrigeration, ISO, and labor standards).
  - The environmental effects of agriculture will become increasingly important to society
  - The growth potential of agriculture as a sector lies largely in non-staple production, where resources should therefore be concentrated;

- Individual agricultural enterprises will prosper to the extent that they are able to deliver predictable and traceable volumes of high quality produce to increasingly sophisticated and integrated market agents;
- Farms that cannot meet these requirements will survive only to the extent that they
  are subsidized by non-agricultural incomes, as homestead plots or part-time, often
  recreational enterprises;
- The 'new economies of scale' mean that small-scale commercial farms will be increasingly disadvantaged unless they organize and integrate with value chains;
- There will be many benefits to poor people, partly indirectly through lower food prices, and partly through new kinds of growth linkages associated with a prosperous commercial farming sector;
- These benefits will manifest themselves as jobs in food processing or manufacturing, or in other ways in the supply chain.

#### 4. TOWARDS A NEW VIEW OF AGRICULTURAL DEVELOPMENT

53. Even though the CVAD has served the purpose of accelerating growth of agricultural productivity thus contributing to food security and poverty reduction in several Asian countries during the period 1960 to 1990, the challenges at present are going to require a different view and approach to agricultural development. The future of agriculture in developing countries for the next two decades will contain features that are already recognizable.

54. Rural development concepts are evolving from a main focus on agriculture within a multi-sector framework to a multi-disciplinary, participatory, and pluralistic approach to achieve sustainable development (Csaki 2004). As is the case now in more developed countries, the trends for most developing countries indicate that farms will be predominantly commercial and larger in size, the great majority of rural people will not be landowners and their income will not be agricultural in origin (though with linkages to agriculture in most cases of low-income developing countries). Agricultural GDP will decline to 10-15% of GDP and to less than 10-15% of total exports.

#### 4.1 Change of Focus

55. The changes in global trends and in developing countries that have achieved some degree of food security require new approaches to agricultural development. Elements of these new approaches imply a change of focus:

- From staples to high value crops
- From commodities to products
- From narrow agricultural to broader policy context including global impacts
- From focus on crop yields to market demands and incomes
- From primary production to entire food chain
- From enhancing production of commodities toward enhancing the productive capacity of rural people
- From thinking of farms as a homogeneous group to heterogeneity<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Typically, in most developing countries, farms are distinguished in terms of size (marginal, small, medium, large, etc.). However, a greater heterogeneity than the one associated to size is already visible. Farms differ

- From public to public-private partnerships, including community driven development
- From avoidance of issues to head on approach (biotechnology, forestry, water)

56. In almost all countries, agriculture remains the dominant land use in rural areas, but increasingly less is the dominant form of rural economic activity, even in developing countries. The recognition of this important transformation suggests that enhancing employment opportunities in rural areas must be the main focus of rural development. Rural areas are increasingly integrated with the urban economy, with the markets, and with the global economy. As a result of increasing infrastructure, even traditionally isolated rural areas are starting to be linked to smaller urban centers; because of connectivity, they have the potential of being linked to the global economy.

# 4.2 The Key Challenge

57. A new view of agricultural development for those developing countries that have already achieved a basic level of food security should address the key challenge: How to accelerate the transformation of an agricultural system still largely focused on production of grains to a system that is able to meet the changing demand for food within the context of a global agrifood system while ensuring food security for the population, generating adequate income for producers, and smoothing the transition to an economy where most of the employment will be in non-farm activities?

58. The challenge is formidable, given that the majority of the population is rural, most of the rural population derives its livelihood from agriculture, and most of the farmers are smallholder households. To face the competition from the global agrifood system, smallholder farmers will require new organizational forms that allow them to benefit from the integration with global food chains. Small farms will not be able to generate sufficient productive employment for a growing labor force; declining commodity prices will set in motion a process of land consolidation and increased generation of value in off-farm activities; the agricultural system will increasingly be dominated by enterprises involved in the transformation, finance, distribution, and trade of agricultural products.

# 4.3 Declining Share of Agriculture in GDP

59. To a certain extent, this is not a new challenge; it is the process that has accompanied the agricultural transformation of most countries. New is the acceleration of the process that took several decades to occur in the past and is now occurring within few decades in an increasing number of countries.

60. Between 1980 and 2000, the share of agriculture in total GDP declined from about 30% to 15% in China, from almost 40% to 25% in India, and from 32% to 26% percent in Bangladesh. In the case of Viet Nam, the decline from 40% to 25% occurred in a shorter period, from 1985 to 2000. The decline has accelerated after 1990s in most countries and is likely to continue as other sectors are growing more rapidly under the pressure from both demand factors (towards non-food products and services) and supply factors (more

in terms of degree of commercialization (corporate, cooperative, family farm), type of commodity (bulk, niche), level of technology, purpose of household (recreation, part-time farming, preservation of rural habitat).

investment and capital accumulation in non-agricultural sectors). This process has occurred in developed countries as well. In Australia, the share of GDP declined from 30% of GDP in 1950 to about 10% in 1970 and to about 3% in 2000.

- 61. The decline of the share of agriculture in GDP is strongly correlated with increase in agricultural productivity. As agricultural productivity increases, it makes possible the migration of labor from agriculture to other sectors. However, the CVAD has downplayed the role of increases in productivity in non-farm sector. Unless higher productivity in other sectors occurs, there will not be incentives for migration from agriculture. The higher growth of productivity in non-agricultural sectors is pulling labor to migrate from the agriculture sector.
- 62. The non-farm sector in rural areas of most developing countries is often itself related to agriculture (agricultural marketing, agroprocessing, et.). Once a minimum level of food security is provided to the population, a situation that is largely achieved in most of the countries which have achieved food self-sufficiency or have undergone a Green Revolution, the situation is mature for accelerating the process of migration from farms to other sectors.

# 4.4 Declining Growth of Agriculture

- 63. When compared the 1990s to the 1980s, agricultural growth is declining for several of the major countries that have undergone a Green Revolution. This is the case for the three most populous Asian countries, China, India, and Indonesia. The average growth of agriculture for these three countries declined from 6.2, 3.5, 3.7 in the 1980s to 3.9, 2.6, and 2.0, respectively, in the 1990s.
- 64. Declining agricultural commodity prices are related to lower growth rates of agriculture in a number of countries, including China and India, where the major achievements of the CVAD were located. Moreover, agriculture is not likely to absorb the new labor force. In fact, increased productivity of agriculture will accelerate the process of movement of labor from agriculture to non-farm activities. The CVAD does not provide much guidance of how to smooth this process.
- 65. Growth of agriculture might not be a good indicator of growth of income of farmers. Given heterogeneity of farmers, growth of income of the some segments of the farming population might be high; some segments could grow fast and other segments could grow slower, and the average growth might be weak. Available statistics do not indicate which group of farmers grows faster; only which subsector grows faster.
- 66. Perhaps a better insight could be gained by looking at the agricultural system as a whole, not just to agriculture. The growth of the total agrifood system might be strong even if the growth of one of its components is not high.

# 4.5 The non-farm component of the agrifood system

67. The agrifood system includes both agricultural production and non-farm activities such as services (trade, marketing, distribution, finance, consulting, research, extension) and industry (processing, packaging, inputs manufacturing). While the GDP share of agriculture declines, there is an increasing share of non-farm activities in the agrifood

system. During the process of agricultural transformation, the agrifood system transforms itself from one dominated by production to one dominated by off-farm activities.

- 68. It is useful to get a comparison of the agricultural system in two countries, Bangladesh and US. While the total GDP of the agrifood system in the US is almost completely dominated by non-farm activities (94.6%), in a country such as Bangladesh, agriculture constitutes still the main share (54.3%) of the agrifood system GDP.
- 69. Two conclusions can be derived from this comparison. First, non-farm activities are an important component of the total agrifood system even in a low-income country such as Bangladesh. Second, the share of non-farm activities in the total GDP of the agrifood system is likely to increase as a result of development.
- 70. Any alternative to the CVAD will have to take into account these two conclusions. Unless the strategy for agricultural development incorporates non-farm activities, the opportunity of increasing productivity of rural households engaged in the agricultural system is going to be limited.
- 71. Both demand and supply factors indicate the way to new view of agricultural development. On the demand side, the changing pattern of demand requires the emergence and growth of non-farm activities spanning over both industry and services. On the supply side, more incentives in the non-farm sector provide a stimulus to capital accumulation and investment that could lead to higher rural growth and employment in the non-agricultural sector.

# 4.6 The key role of enterprise development and entrepreneurship

- 72. Most of the non-farm activities are carried out by enterprises, engaged both in services and industries related to agriculture. An exclusive focus on farmers is not likely to generate the necessary growth needed to meet the challenges of an agricultural system that has already reached food self-sufficiency and is facing the competition from the global agrifood system in meeting the changing food and agricultural demand of growing economies. This does not imply that farmers (and particularly smallholder farmers) should be disregarded in the strategy. It only means that a successful strategy for agricultural development will have to address the needs of both farmers and agro-based enterprises.
- 73. The recognition of the critical role of non-farm activities in the agrifood system in contributing to overall GDP and absorbing rural employment is a key element of the alternative view of agricultural development. In this view, farmers are still the majority of the actors of agricultural development; however non-farm enterprises become the major actors as development proceeds. Unless favorable conditions exist for these enterprises to develop, rural development itself may be retarded.
- 74. Agro-enterprises will not only be able to absorb an increasing share of rural employment, but will also capture an increasing share of value added, and contribute to the rapid transformation of the rural economy from one dominated by agricultural production to one based on services and industry, while at the same time reducing migration from rural to urban areas.
- 75. The structure of firms in most developing countries is characterized by a large number

of micro-enterprises and small and medium enterprises (SME). Most enterprises are not registered and very few corporate firms are present. Most of these firms generate little value added and have very low labor productivity.

- 76. In order for agriculture to move to a more commercialized level with high value added a multitude of firms will have to emerge. This requires entrepreneurship and enterprise development. Yet, most of the interventions related to agriculture are uniquely focused on producers, and assume that enterprise development and entrepreneurship will arise automatically. This is not so.
- 77. In most developing countries, investment in agriculture is limited. It is often emphasized that low and declining public investment in agriculture, particularly in research and extension, might compromise the future growth of the sector. It is true that public investment in agriculture is low and there are good arguments for its expansion particularly in those areas such as research that have often a public good nature.
- 78. However, it is also the case that most of the investment is undertaken by the private sector and if conditions and interventions are targeted to enterprise development in rural areas, private investment in agriculture itself will increase and more than offset declining public sector investment. In this context, inadequate attention has been given to entrepreneurship development in rural areas and in particular in the development of a modern agrifood system.
- 79. The importance of enterprise development has not been lost to strategists of rural development. Rural infrastructure development, improvement of health and education are widely perceived not only as key strategies for raising living standards and access of rural households to markets and information, but also as favoring conditions for creation of new enterprises. Most countries offer incentives to enterprises to relocate in rural areas because they perceive the key role that enterprise development has in creating employment, raising local incomes, and add to value added.
- 80. More recently, a new paradigm has emerged, consisting in not just attracting existing enterprises from urban to rural areas (or from more favorable to less favorable rural areas), but also in growing entrepreneurs in the local areas. Local entrepreneurs are more likely to reinvest their wealth locally, rather than send their corporate wealth back to metro areas. Moreover, local entrepreneurs are instrumental in connecting local areas to the urban areas and to the global economy.
- 81. Yet, the CVAD with its exclusive focus on production and farmers not only neglects the global trends in agrifood systems, but also neglects a powerful engine of development, namely enterprise development, and the nurturing of local entrepreneurship that could make a direct contribution to the agricultural transformation. A new view of agricultural development will have to redress this unbalance and elaborate policy to grow local entrepreneurship that facilitate the linkages of smallholder farmers to rapidly growing urban and international markets.

# 4.7 Complexity of the process of agricultural commercialization

82. Agricultural commercialization refers to the transition from subsistence or "own" production to an increasingly complex production and consumption system based on

market and other forms of exchange between producers and consumers. Agricultural commercialization is a process involving the transformation of the rural economy into a system where non-farm activities are the main source of income and employment. Central to this process is the development of agriculture into a commercial system including agribusiness. While recognizing that agribusiness enterprises are fundamentally motivated by profit-making opportunities, enterprises engage in investment, create employment, and add value to agricultural commodities, thus stimulating growth in the economy.

- 83. Agricultural commercialization involves different degrees and dimensions. A low degree of commercialization involves farm production essentially for subsistence purposes with any surplus sold to the market. At high degrees of commercialization, farmers produce only for the market and are integrated with dynamic urban and international markets. In the latter case, farming is a profession rather than a way of living, production is specialized and based on modern technology, and income stabilization and profit making rather than food security are among the major concerns of farmers.
- 84. In the movement from subsistence to higher degrees of commercialization, different dimensions such as farming system, technology, marketing, finance, infrastructure, and the role of consumers take on different values. Even though a precise measurement of commercialization is perhaps impossible, it is however possible to suggest a simple taxonomy of commercialization. The purpose of the taxonomy is to identify those activities and processes that require intervention.
- 85. At a low level of commercialization, there are a large number of subsistence farmers. The marketable surplus is generally small, with the exception of a few high value commodities. Farming is regarded as a way of living, rather than as a profession or a business-oriented activity. Formal training for farming and formal procedures for production, marketing and processing are virtually absent. Information about new technologies and market opportunities is disseminated slowly, mostly by word of mouth. There are few large markets, most market transactions are local and take place in cash. Research and extension systems are usually public, poorly functioning and reaching just a few of the producers, and almost none of the post-production actors such as traders and agroprocessors. Farmer organizations are few and often ineffective. Trade associations are in a similar situation. Few financial instruments are available. A large part of credit is informal and most credit, including formal sources, is for the very short term (3-6 months). Consequently, little private investment in agriculture is taking place. Production is not intensive and farmers or post-production actors use little modern technology.
- 86. As the degree of commercialization increases, several dimensions acquire different significance and a movement towards higher use of technology, formalized processes, integration, information and finance sophistication takes place. In most developing countries some farmers are already commercialized, in the sense that significant volumes of marketed output pass through organized, mostly private sector, channels including traders and sometimes processors. Moreover, the marketed output (a) is generally produced deliberately for commercial sale and is not merely surplus over farmers' production for their own subsistence consumption, and (b) sometimes travels considerable distances to the final markets, including occasionally export markets. Commercial activities affect a considerable number of smallholder farmers engaged in the production of fruits

and vegetable, spices, potato, onion and garlic, tea, coffee, sugar cane, jute, cashew nuts, and shrimp. In the case of medium and larger scale farmers, cereal production is also largely commercialized.

87. Any process of change involves some winners and losers. The process of commercialization is no different. It is important to realize who will gain and who will lose, and mitigate the negative impact if necessary and possible. Commercialization might increase the pressure on a fragile eco-system; it might lead to concentration of assets; it will lead to a demise of traditional farming systems and a more intensive use of technology and formal processes that will be reflected in different power relations within the households, the village, and society; it might lead to loss of biodiversity and pollution; it might be promoting cultural attitudes that go against social norms and restrictions; it might promote new roles for women that are not accepted by society. These are examples of negative effects or conflicts that commercialization might cause. Conversely, there are examples of positive effects, such as higher income, more employment for the poor, greater consumer satisfaction, and recognition of women's role in agriculture and improvement of their access to assets, information and decision-making.

88. For this transformation to take place, three simultaneous things are likely to occur: (1) creation of competitive business enterprises, (2) increase in rural wages, and (3) land consolidation. Poverty reduction will occur as less productive farmers move away from agriculture into rural and urban services and industries where they can obtain higher wages and more stable employment. Several factors influencing commercialization include effective institutions, improved infrastructure, knowledge management, adequate incentives, stakeholders' initiatives, and a conducive and enabling policy environment. The recognition of the complexity of these different factors should however not divert the attention from focusing on agribusiness enterprises as the main vehicle for the process of commercialization to take place.

# 4.8 The relation between agricultural and non-farm growth revisited

89. (Foster 2003) shows that a single-minded focus on enhancing productivity growth in agriculture as a source of welfare enhancement in rural areas is counterproductive in the context of a global economy. Not only is increased global food productivity likely to result in decreased prices and thus lower returns to poor farmers, but also there are substantial regions of the world where poor climate or topology provide little opportunity for expansion of agricultural yields in the absence of sustained subsidies.

90. The main message of the CVAD is that agricultural growth is the engine of growth in rural areas and the expansion of the non-farm sector in rural areas is predicated on the prior expansion of agricultural productivity in those areas. However, more recent evidence casts some doubt on this message. Evidence from India shows that over the past 30 years there has been substantial growth in the non-farm sector in rural India and the primary source of this growth has been the expansion of rural industry, not the expansion of agricultural productivity. In fact, factory growth was largest in those areas that did not benefit from enhancement of local agricultural productivity growth over the period.

91. Non-farm growth can play an important part in the expansion of incomes in rural areas

and non-farm growth is especially pro-poor. Poor rural households are endowed with little other than low-skilled labor and rural industry appears to be able to productively employ this labor. This contrasts with agricultural productivity growth, which expands the return to a factor that is concentrated among the better-off households (land) in addition to expanding the return to unskilled labor, entry of factory sector tends to have a greater proportional impact on the income of the poorest members of the village.

92. This is not to say that investment in agricultural productivity growth is not an important dimension of an overall strategy for poverty reduction in rural areas of low-income countries. Instead, it suggests that, from the perspective of poverty reduction, removal of barriers to non-farm capital and product mobility within and across countries is an important complement to investment in agricultural productivity that target those areas well suited to cultivation.

#### 4.9 Economies of Scale

- 93. The Green Revolution technology, centered on seeds, was scale neutral. Small farmers could participate freely, especially as modern varieties became less risky. New technologies are more likely to involve mechanization and capitalization or require high levels of education, both of which may disadvantage asset -constrained smallholders.
- 94. Moreover, as urbanization and the industrialization of the food system proceeds, the way food is produced and marketed in developing countries changes in response to a changing demand. Small-scale, under-capitalized and often under-educated farmers in developing countries find it particularly difficult to meet the quantity, quality, timeliness and traceability requirements of the new supply chains and have yet to find widely replicable institutional solutions, for example through cooperatives.
- 95. Smallholder farmers could be highly productive, and in fact are often more productive than large-size farms (see (Agrifood Consulting International 2001). The issue of economies of scale, however, does not primarily emerge in production. The issue arises mostly in processing, marketing, and distribution. When several standards have to be adopted at the farm level, the necessary changes in production and post-production activities required for a modern agrifood system are more difficult to implement and monitor when a large number of farmers are involved. The complications arise from the coordination of a large number of people. Farmer organizations, such as groups, cooperatives, and associations could take the lead in reducing the coordination problems faced by enterprises in dealing with farmers. Contracts between farmers and agribusinesses, and vertical integration are alternative options. The value chain approach proposed in the following section shows ways to address these coordination issues.

# 5. THE VALUE CHAIN APPROACH

96. Value chains are organized linkages among groups of producers, traders, processors, and service providers (including NGOs) who join together in order to improve productivity and the value added of their activities. By joining together, the actors in a value chain increase competitiveness and are better able to maintain competitiveness through

innovation. The limitations of each single actor in the chain are overcome by establishing synergies and governance rules aimed at producing higher value.

- 97. The main advantages to commercial stakeholders deriving from being part of an effective value chain consist in being able to reduce the costs of doing business, increasing revenues, increase bargaining power, improve access to technology, information, and capital, and, by doing so, innovate production and marketing processes in order to gain higher value and provide higher quality to the customers.
- 98. A value chain approach focuses on the interaction of actors along each step of the supply chain. Such an approach thus considers trade relations as being part of a series of networks of producers, exporters, importers, processors and retailers, and service providers, whereby knowledge and relationships are developed to gain access to markets and suppliers. The success of stakeholders in adding value to their production lies in their ability to access these networks.
- 99. Several concepts are central to the understanding of value chains including the concepts of linkages, coordination, governance, consumer demand, competitiveness, innovation, and distribution. Box 1 summarizes the key concepts. 100.

# **Box 1. Key Concepts in Value Chain Analysis**

- The value chain organizes business linkages by getting stakeholders to work together.
- For different actors in a value chain to work together effectively requires effective **coordination** of decisions and exchange
- The rules regulating the coordination within a value chain constitute the **governance** of the chain.
- In order to increase value, the value chain needs to meet consumer demand.
- To meet consumer demand is not enough; the actors in the value chain need to meet consumer demand better than actors outside of the value chain: the value chain actors have to be **competitive**
- In order to keep competitiveness, the value chain needs to **innovate** continuously, otherwise their initial gains in competitiveness will be eroded over time.
- In order for the chain to establish effective linkages, the chain needs to distribute benefits that provide incentives to the participants. If only one party in the value chain appropriates all the benefit, the chain will not be sustainable in a market system.

Source: (Goletti 2004b)

The understanding of governance implies understanding of who controls the power 101. relationships within the chain (Kaplinsky and Morris 2001). Governance issues are of increasing importance in the agrifood system, given the greater emphasis on product differentiation, food safety and product standards required in a competitive market environment. Such issues place a premium on strong linkages within the value chain

between agents in the chain. While individual and isolated smallholder farmers may be unable to capture value added vis à vis traders or processors, associations of producers may be in a better position to access technology, credit and market opportunities.

- 102. Rather than a linear model in which relations from farmers to consumers are considered in a sequential manner (input providers supplying to farmers selling to traders distributing to processors and consumers), in a network all actors can establish relations with each other in order to gain from the value chain. That implies a multiplicity of partnerships that can be formed between not only different groups and organizations belonging to the private sector, but also between public and private organizations.
- 103. In order to meet the challenges of the global economy, a successful value chain must continuously innovate in the form of products, technologies, management, marketing, distribution, etc. The chain must be efficiently organized using a variety of organizational structures that allow achieving economies of scale. The chain often establishes coordination among its participants by moving beyond spot market transactions and utilizing contracts, vertical integration, supply networks, alliances, and other forms of coordination. Increasingly the world over, effective value chains introduce practices that meet environmental and social responsibility concerns.
- 104. Spot markets can be the most efficient way to organize production and exchange when the level of coordination is relatively low and the differentiation of products is also low (as in the case of bulk commodities). In the case of perishable products and processed products however, the differentiation in terms of quality, safety, convenience, is quite high and often requires higher level of coordination than what provided by spot markets. In these cases, spot markets might not be the most appropriate way to organize production and exchange. Value chains or even hierarchies (e.g. vertical integration of an industry) might be the most efficient way of organizing the industry.
- 105. The more differentiated the product, the higher is usually the coordination requirement with the chain to ensure that the products of desired quality are available to the consumer at the right time and place. Markets and hierarchies are at the extremes of the coordination line; markets, hierarchies, and intermediate forms of coordination including joint ventures, alliances, network, clusters, etc. are the domain of value chains.
- 106. A value chain is not the same as a supply chain. A value chain is about linkages generating value for the consumer. A supply chain is about processes of moving and transforming commodities into products from producers to consumers. While a value chain is about generating value for the consumer, a supply chain is about logistics.
- 107. An example of how to generate higher value added is the one present in the transformation of a relatively undifferentiated commodity such as paddy into highly differentiated products. The first transformation of paddy in rice is relatively well known. Rice itself could be highly differentiated according to different features related to variety (basmati, jasmine, Arborio, etc.), size (long, medium, short grains), broken percentage, fragrance, etc. Different products could also be made out of rice including starch, snacks, crackers, spirits, etc. By-products of the milling process itself could be used for producing bran and fuel.

- 108. The value chain approach contains several features that are consistent with a new view of agricultural development. The approach is consistent with both global trends in the agrifood system and with a strategy intended to accelerate the transformation of the rural economy into a more dynamic system able to absorb productive employment and generate higher wages. A value chain intends to create or strengthen existing linkages among different actors, and therefore goes beyond a narrow view of agricultural development as only based on production. Value chain linkages imply that producers are linked to consumers through various mechanisms involving enterprises. These linkages aim at increasing value for the consumers and therefore utilize opportunities existing in the rural economies, arising in production, services, and industry. Sustainable poverty reduction will occur if emerging businesses in rural areas and rural-urban growth centers will increase demand for non-farm employment and induce growth in rural wages.
- 109. The value chain approach is broad enough because it not only focuses on producers and smallholder rural households, but also on business enterprises, service providers, and consumers. At the same time, the approach is not too broad to include everything that a government or development agency could or should do to promote commercialization. It seems to strike the right balance between comprehensiveness and focus.

# 5.1 The Issue of Coordination and Linkages

- 110. Value chain analysis stresses the general failure in coordinating the decisions of private stakeholders (e.g. farmers, traders and agroprocessors in the case of the agrifood system) and service providers from the public, private and NGO sectors. Coordination failures arise both within the private and NGO sectors and the public sector. Within the private and NGO sectors each stakeholder perceives agribusiness development in relative isolation. As a result, stakeholders do not make a concerted effort to overcome constraints that are affecting different participants in the value chain. Linkages among commercial stakeholders (farmers, traders and processors) exist, but are characterized by lack of trust, are weak, and do not result in effective actions to increase value added, improve competitiveness, and maintain competitiveness through continuous innovation. Within the public sector, coordination among government agencies is weak; its improvement requires leadership, commitment and vision.
- 111. Individual interventions to improve technology, infrastructure, and access to credit and markets can only be partial solutions that could at best keep the growth of the sector at the levels experienced in the past rather than accelerating growth substantially and make a real and appreciable contribution to the national goals. For growth to accelerate substantially a new way of thinking about and carrying out agribusiness is needed. This new way implies overcoming coordination failures. This will not happen automatically but will require appropriate institutional mechanisms that are currently not in place. From a business perspective, this general coordination failure among commercial stakeholders and service providers translates into ineffective value chains.

# 5.2 The Impact of Lack of Effective Value Chain Linkages

112. **Supply Chain Bottlenecks**. The lack of effective linkages among stakeholders in a value chain has several consequences. Perhaps the most obvious one is the

predominance of supply chain bottlenecks. Bottlenecks result in produce from farmers not flowing to the market in the amount and quality necessary to ensure high and stable returns. As a result, farmers experience gluts of commodities; processors are not able to procure sufficient raw materials for their plants; retailers do not get sufficient products to meet the demand of consumers; and exporters are unable to meet foreign customers' requirements. The overall volume of domestic and international trade is reduced; in turn this implies that rural households and enterprises will not be able to reap the benefit from higher rural income and employment. In turn, a weak rural economy reduces the scope for further investment in rural areas and entails low aggregate growth.

- 113. Lack of Innovation. In the absence of effective linkages among stakeholders the scope for innovation is limited. As an example, lack of improvements in packaging technologies is not necessarily the result of the lack of knowledge and availability of technologies, or of the fact that technologies are expensive. From the point of view of a fruit processing factory it might make sense to have the raw materials delivered in plastic crates rather than bamboo baskets. However, the introduction of plastic crates involves not only the factory and its suppliers, but affects the overall supply chain, and requires changes in logistic and supervisory systems that are acceptable to transporters, suppliers, farmers and factory workers. Another example is the adoption of improved seed and crop husbandry at the farm level. The resulting increase in production will not necessarily result in higher income for the smallholders, unless established market linkages ensure that the increase in production is actually marketed and does not result in a glut in the market. Low rate of innovation implies low productivity which in turn leads to low comparative advantage and missed market opportunities.
- 114. **Isolated Cases of Success**. Without effective linkages among stakeholders, success cases of entrepreneurships remain isolated and do not translate into a wider growth of the agribusiness sector. To achieve wider growth effects, entrepreneurs need to be linked to each other, form associations and establish mechanisms to exchange information, including the formation of economic clusters which are locations where many similar enterprises group themselves to achieve economies of scope and scale. The weakness of linkages is particularly acute in the case of women. Successful cases of female entrepreneurship remain isolated partly because of the lack of mechanisms to disseminate their experiences and learn from each others' success. The overall effect is a low level of innovation and slow agribusiness development.
- 115. Low Organizational Capacity. The capacity of individuals to solve business problems does not translate into organizational capacity. Product development requires the concerted effort of several people within the organization and among organizations. In the absence of this concerted effort market opportunities cannot be exploited. The frustration in solving problems as individuals generates a perception of helplessness and induces a dependency attitude, whereby problems are expected to be solved by the Government, or by investment and technical assistance provided by donors. This in turn translates into a lack of sustainable enterprise development.
- 116. Low Private Investment in Rural Areas. Isolated attempts at investments are not likely to raise the necessary capital to undertake modern agribusiness activities. At the farm level, the low income of most rural households often does not allow for individuals or small groups of poor smallholders to mobilize sufficient capital or access credit to adopt

new technologies, build basic marketing infrastructure, and obtain working capital for a variety of business activities. A similar situation occurs for other value chain stakeholders, albeit at a different scale. If organized into larger groups or alliances, the same stakeholders could make larger investments and avoid dependence on scarce and unreliable sources of finance for their investment. Low investment in the sector results in lower growth.

#### 6. IMPLEMENTATION OF THE VALUE CHAIN APPROACH

117. The value chain approach provides some key elements towards a new view of agricultural development. However, unless the approach indicates some viable models for implementation, the approach remains at best a useful analytical framework to interpret the changing agrifood system in countries that have reached a minimum level of food security and are embarking in the process of agricultural transformation. The following sections propose models to help implement this approach.

# 6.1 Linkages

- 118. In most developing countries, market linkages between farmers and retailers or processors are extensive and complex. For a particular product to travel from the farm gate to consumers it usually has to pass through many different hands. On the way it is packed, unpacked, graded, sorted, handled and transported many times. This has significant consequences not only for the quality of the product when it reaches the consumer, but also for the efficient organization of the agricultural marketing system.
- 119. In most developing countries, there are relatively few linkages directly between retailers or processors and the farmer level. The majority of sales by farmers are at either the local market or the farm gate. Few farmers make sales to wholesalers or retailers, even in organized marketing groups. This means that the organization of the multitude of middlemen is an important factor in improving the agricultural marketing system.
- 120. A lack of linkages between non-adjacent levels of the chain perpetuates a situation where there are multiple middlemen handling the produce from farm gate to consumers, with the attendant increase in post-harvest losses and financial inefficiencies from multiple handling, packaging, storage and transportation.

# 6.2 Trust and Linkages

- 121. Trust and linkages are inextricably linked. Organizations without linkages have little reason to "trust" each other, even if they do not "distrust" the other party. Conversely, organizations with linkages may not need to have trust in order to do business if there are some enforcement mechanisms in place to ensure compliance with a given set of rules governing their relationship (for example, contracts and other legal regulations). However, in the absence of an effective mechanism of enforcement, linkages without trust are invariably weak (see (ANZDEC, ACI et al. 2003b).
- 122. It is clear that any intervention in the agricultural marketing system by governments

or donors is ultimately unsustainable unless there is a strengthening of the linkages between stakeholders. There are significant opportunities for improvements in coordination between the different levels of the marketing system. If levels of trust can be increased, then stakeholders are more likely to be willing to coordinate activities.

- 123. Strengthening the linkages between the different stakeholders in the marketing system will lay the groundwork for improvements in the other constraints; establishment of a contract regime, improvements in post-harvest and transportation systems, improvements in quality, and the effective use of market information.
- 124. Linkages can be strengthened in a variety of ways, but ultimately it is a matter of confidence building between stakeholders; which implies that the process is a long term process without any short-term fixes.
- 125. The key to improving linkages is through a Value Chain approach, utilizing the concept of a network model where all actors can establish relations with each other in order to gain from the Value Chain. This implies a multiplicity of partnerships that can be formed between not only different groups and organizations belonging to the private sector, but also between public and private organizations. As noted above, linkages between different stakeholders and actors along the value chain are extensive but weak; farmers may be linked to traders, but are not directly linked with processors or retailers.
- 126. The challenge for value chain development is to move to a situation where there are strong and extensive linkages between each of the stakeholders. There is little evidence in the case of most low-income developing countries that these linkages can be built and strengthened without some external assistance; after all, if this were the case then linkages would be much stronger and more pervasive than is currently the case. As such, there is a strong argument that an intervention (a "project") in facilitating the creation and strengthening of linkages between value chain stakeholders.
- 127. As an example, the weak linkages between agro-enterprises and finance providers are strengthened by the provision of investment and technical services by the project. The project acts as an intermediary and facilitator between the agro-enterprise and the financial institutions; possibly providing business plan development, financial proposal preparation, technical consulting services, etc. on a case by case basis. In the case where linkages do not exist, for example between farmers and exporters, the project may provide investment and technical services to assist exporters to source their supplies directly from contract farmers, and provide technical services to farmers in order to assist them in meeting contract and quality specifications.

#### 6.3 Value Chain Models

- 128. Five models<sup>4</sup> are presented that link smallholder farmers to entrepreneurs and markets in a competitive and sustainable way, including
  - (i) Farmer to Market Linkage Model;
  - (ii) Farmer to Enterprise Contract Model;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See (Agrico, ANZDEC et al. 2004a)

- (iii) Large Enterprise to Farmer Model;
- (iv) Small and Medium Enterprise to Market Linkage Model; and
- (v) Supermarket Supply Chain Model.
- 129. Clearly, this list is not exhaustive; however it provides some example of how the value chain approach could be implemented in a variety of situations commonly arising in many developing countries characterized by a low level of agricultural commercialization and an agrarian structure consisting mostly of smallholder farmers.
- 130. In the *Farmer-to-Market Linkage* Model, farmers are linked with market services and other value chain stakeholders through facilitating service provider organizations.
- 131. In the *Farmer-to-Enterprise Contract* Model, farmers are linked directly with enterprises through contract grower systems. There are two types of contracts envisaged; contracts directly between enterprises and farmers, and contracts indirectly through traders, NGOs and suppliers.
- 132. In the Large Private Enterprise Model, out-growers are treated as partners in the enterprise rather than as mere contract suppliers. The large private enterprise provides a guaranteed market outlet for associated smallholders, as well as technical extension services and credit in the form of production inputs. In order for the large private enterprise program to be successful, however, the enterprise must also exercise some degree of management control over the smallholders' production and post harvest practices and must take some responsibility for the general well being of the smallholder and his/her family.
- 133. In the *Small and Medium Enterprise-to-Market Linkage* Model, enterprises are linked with market services and other value chain stakeholders through the facilitation services of organizations and institutions such as NGOs.
- 134. In the *Supermarket Supply Chain* model, farmers are linked with supermarkets and large retailers through supplier organizations. The supermarkets and retailers are responsible for developing standards and quality specifications, as well as contractual terms for suppliers. Suppliers are responsible for organizing individual farmers and farmer groups to supply perishable product that meets those standards and quality specifications.
- 135. The models suggest different types of interventions which have a common feature: the centrality of the commercial stakeholders (farmers and entrepreneurs) in meeting consumer demand and in making investment decisions to expand their businesses. In this approach, service providers (public, private, and NGO) are not the initiators of change that leads to sustainable growth; they are provider of services that are demand-driven by the key stakeholders. The approach indicates the need of investments to be driven by commercial stakeholders in the pursuit of business opportunities, rather than by service providers.

# 7. THE VALUE CHAIN APPROACH AND IMPLICATIONS FOR AGRICULTURE AND RURAL DEVELOPMENT

- 136. The expected benefits of the proposed models for implementation of the value chain approach can be identified in several areas:
  - (i) Income. Enabling rural enterprises and entrepreneurs to increase their business scope and profitability through improved value chain linkages and effective business development services will not only increase the incomes of these entrepreneurs, it will also have a multiplier effect on the incomes of others in the area. Groups that will most directly benefit will be farmers and private sector entrepreneurs who are presently impeded by lack of agribusiness linkages and value chain management. There would be indirect benefits to suppliers of input goods and services particularly in regional areas. There would be large potential flow—on benefits in income generation to a wide range of farmer producers who may be either suppliers of agroprocessing businesses or directly participate as members of farmer cooperative agribusiness enterprises. Positive income effects will also affect to rural households who are employed in new or expanded processing enterprises. Most income effects would be expected in rural areas.
- (ii) **Employment.** The greatest potential source of new jobs in the future will be rural non-farm enterprises. Enhancing the growth potential of these enterprises will increase their contribution to national employment generation. Indirect benefits will also occur for the rural labor force through increased employment opportunities. Employment effects are expected to be positive, especially in rural areas and particularly for women with increased opportunities as agro-industry workers.
- (iii) **Prices.** Increasing the technical and managerial capabilities and the productivity of agribusiness enterprises should make it possible to provide products of better quality and additional variety to the consumer at lower prices. The establishment of contracts and the adoption of various post-harvest technologies (including improved storage, packaging and processing techniques) will also provide additional stability to prices.
- (iv) **Trade and competitiveness.** Increased production of higher value goods and services will increase the volume and value of market transactions. Improved value chain linkages will allow innovations in technology and management, more stable supply chains, and will increase competitiveness of agribusiness enterprises.
- (v) Market efficiency. The strengthening of value chain linkages between farmers and markets will contribute to a better organized marketing system, reduction of postharvest losses, increase in quality, lower congestion of market places, investment in market infrastructure, and "shorter" marketing chains yielding higher marketing margins for farmers.
- (vi) **Poverty reduction.** Reducing the incidence of poverty in the countryside, where it is most prevalent, will occur as a result of increases in income brought about by growth in the volume and value of goods produced and marketed. It will occur to an even greater extent as a result of employment creation in an expanded rural enterprise sector. For poor farmers supplying agricultural commodities, strengthening of value

chain linkages improves market access and, through better coordination and cooperative relationships with buyers, increases their income security. The same holds when the poor are on the buying side of the value chain. The poor, however, are not only producers but they are also workers and consumers. Development of medium and large agribusiness enterprises will have an indirect effect on the poor through generation of new employment opportunities. At the same time, agroenterprise development will increase demand for agricultural goods which are likely to be produced by poor commercialized farmers.

- (vii) **Gender equity.** Development of effective value chains will provide new opportunities for women to be involved in value chains as either workers or agribusiness entrepreneurs.
- (viii) **Ethnic group advancement.** Impact on ethnic group advancement and social equity will depend on the degree to which ethnic groups are integrated with value chains as both supplier of raw materials and as entrepreneurs at different stages of the value chain.

# 7.1 Implications for the poor

- 137. Past approaches to poverty reduction have centered on government programs, NGO's activities often based on subsidies and foreign aid in the form of grants and cheap loans. The poor, particularly in rural areas have often characterized as having limited assets (land and capital), knowledge, and access to markets, information, and infrastructure. The poor have also been seen as lacking education and skills, having little organization, often been isolated, and victims of the vagaries of weather, disasters, diseases, discrimination, and abuse. The majority of the poor in most developing countries are located in rural areas and derive their main livelihoods from agriculture-related activities.
- 138. A variety of approaches has been proposed in the past to poverty reduction. Most of the past approaches see the major role played by the government institutions and NGOs. Most the past approaches in agricultural development see the rural poor primarily as producers whose productivity needs to be raised. The approach promoted in this paper views the poor not just as farmers, but primarily as wage workers and consumers, and the private sector as a major initiator of change in poverty reduction.
- 139. The private sector includes micro, small, medium, and large enterprises, multinational companies (MNC), and cooperatives. The private sector has a major role in poverty reduction if starts to approach the poor as a viable and profitable markets. Prahalat (2004) sees the "bottom of the pyramid" (those with less than \$2/day and constituting 80% of world population) as a major opportunity for business, provided that NGOs, community-based organizations (CBOS), and micro-small-medium enterprises (MSME) join large enterprises and Multinational Corporations (MNCs) as partners.
- 140. For the opportunity to be realized, the private sector will have to innovate in its strategies related to pricing, marketing, distribution, and risk management. Traditionally, MNC have not looked at the poor because they have not been able to develop new methods to tap the needs and demands of these consumers. They have applied

developed market strategies to developing countries, thus making possible only the tapping of the top 10-20 percent of the population.

- 141. This has already shown promises in the case of various countries including India, Mexico, etc. where MSMEs, NGOs, and CBOs have joined large local companies and MNCs to get access to global markets and capital. Innovations by the private sector will require the building of a capacity for governance of transactions.
- 142. The poor can benefit from commercialization as producers, consumers, and workers. Business enterprises can have a positive influence on poor people's livelihood in different ways including (Mayoux 2003):
  - (i) Generating employment
- (ii) Providing adequate working conditions
- (iii) Increasing or securing the poor's access to assets
- (iv) Investment in infrastructure and technology
- (v) Developing human capital
- (vi) Providing adequate, affordable goods and services
- (vii) Fostering a sustainable natural environment
- 143. As a minimum requirement, enterprises should not take advantage of poverty and the marginalization that often accompanies it (e.g. by paying less than a living wage, by selling harmful products, by denying land rights without fair compensation). Instead, companies might in some instances seek to reduce poverty (e.g. by locating factories in deprived areas, investing in education and health, providing poor people with market access). Seen as consumers, the poor acquire new opportunities in terms of choices of products and services. Of course, the poor can also be harmed and lose from interacting with enterprises, and there is a need for checks and balance. In the past, the protection of consumer was considered as one main task of the public sector. Currently, press and media can provide such a role. Ultimately, informed consumers will be the ones to provide the most important check and balance through their consumption choices.

#### 7.2 Implications for women

- 144. Women are likely to benefit from the development of value chains in terms of (i) newer employment possibilities at household level in agro-processing and post-harvest tasks; (ii) newer employment possibilities in large and small-medium enterprises; (iii) increased income at household level; (iv) improved human capital and skills through training and capacity building activities and (v) increased availability and quality of agricultural goods.
- 145. The combination of these effects may significantly increase the overall status of women in the household and in society at large. However, various constraints may prevent or decrease the occurrence of benefits to women. By considering the women potential involvement in employment opportunities, attention needs to be given to (i) social /cultural constraints which limit women participation in the labor force; (ii) economic constraints as necessity to count on women work inside the household for children care and housekeeping; (iii) facility constraints which do not allow women to access appropriate facilities in the working or market place.
- 146. The following general strategies of gender enhancement could be incorporated in

the design of value chain models: (i) development of commercial value chains, which is positively associated with the participation of women; (ii) collaboration with women entrepreneurs associations and women associations; (iii) implementation of awareness campaign for promoting commercial activities among women groups; (iv) capacity building for institutions, NGOs, associations, groups, financial institutions and women involved in agri-business and agro-processing activities.

# 7.3 Implications for the environment

- 147. Agricultural growth has historically been resource-intensive. It has been associated with heavy use of fossil fuels, falling water tables, soil problems related to salinization and compaction, and a variety of residue problems in the environment and in products leaving the farm. Despite talk of environmentally friendly options and the idea of 'regenerating agriculture', and despite the growth of niche markets for organic products, environmental considerations seem more likely to constrain agricultural growth than to accelerate it.
- 148. This is evident in those areas where the Green Revolution has been successful (e.g. Punjab) and are now facing major environmental problems (e.g. lowering of the water table). But is also evident in developed countries where as income increases the demand for "environmental amenities" also increases and with it the regulations of and penalties for socially undesirable food and fiber production systems.
- 149. In the emerging global agrifood system, value chain might be a powerful force in promoting sustainable practices. Regulatory activity by governments and the key role of civil society organizations (NGO, associations, community-based organizations, citizens and consumer groups) in monitoring environmental parameters will provide a strong message to businesses and farmers engaged in environmentally damaging practices. At the same time, the pursuit of environmental amenities will represent an opportunity for market development and provide incentives to agribusiness to adopt sustainable practices and to ensure food safety for consumers and environmentally safe practices for workers and communities.

# 7.4 Implications for food security

- 150. Chronic hunger derives from low real incomes. Every major country that has substantially improved real incomes has done so through a structural transformation of its economy involving:
  - (i) A process by which increasing proportions of employment and output of the economy are accounted for by sectors other than agriculture. The economy becomes less agriculturally oriented in a relative sense, although agriculture and, more broadly, the food system continue to grow absolutely and generate important growth linkages to the rest of the economy. Structural transformation thus involves a net resource transfer from agriculture to other sectors of the economy, over the long term.
- (ii) Movement of the economy away from subsistence-oriented household-level production towards an integrated economy based on greater specialization, exchange, and the capturing of economies of scale. Many functions formerly

conducted on the farm, such as input production and output processing, are shifted to off-farm elements of the economy.

- 151. One implication of this process is that driving down the real cost of food to consumers requires increased attention to fostering technical and institutional changes in the off-farm elements of the food system. Increasing productivity at the farm level is absolutely necessary but is alone insufficient to assure decreases in the real price of food to consumers. Another implication is that for this process of structural transformation to go forward, the economy must develop low-costs means of exchange. High transaction costs in the economy can choke off structural transformation by making it too costly for people to rely on the specialization and exchange necessary to take advantage of the new technologies in the food system.
- 152. Increased access to knowledge systems of the wider world embodies new technologies, management practices, and institutions. In the future, the sources of economic growth will depend increasingly on these types of embodied knowledge.

#### 7.5 Implications for Marginal Areas

- 153. Certain regions of the world are at such a disadvantage with respect to their endowment with natural resources that they can be considered marginal locations in terms of settlement and utilization of resources. This includes semiarid and arid regions with no means of irrigation, highland and mountain regions with little precipitation, but also areas with inadequate transport facilities. Usually the whole system is quite unstable and offers little resistance to human intervention; sometimes, however, the system also shows great powers of regeneration, if the damage has not progressed too far.
- 154. As the result of population growth and pressure to increase production using means that are no longer ecologically sound, which often results in the destruction of resources, the ecological carrying capacity of these areas is no longer adequate for the existing population, and it is hardly possible for the inhabitants to take part in the general economic development.
- 155. Admittedly the development of marginal areas is a major challenge for development practitioners and the value chain approach cannot be expected to make a major contribution to a problem that involves multi-dimensions such as community development, infrastructure development, and preservation of cultural identities. However, several marginal areas in developing countries have also comparative advantage in the production of specialty commodities (e.g. tea, coffee, spices such as ginger and cardamom, medicinal and aromatic plants, nuts, mushrooms, fruits) that are often not adequately utilized.
- 156. The challenge for a value chain approach would be to use the comparative advantage of these areas in the production of certain commodities and identify niches whereby consumer would pay a premium of these commodities while maintaining ecological balance and promoting sustainable practices in the local communities. The approach of the CVAD which intensify production of staple commodities is not appropriate for at least two reasons. First, the approach implies using techniques that are ecologically damaging to these areas; second, these commodities would hardly meet generate the

income increases that would ensure food security and poverty reduction.

#### 8. CONCLUSIONS

- 157. The structural transformation of rural economies requires a view of agricultural development different from the one inherent in the conventional view which originated with the Green Revolution and was based on increasing productivity of food staples grown by smallholders.
- 158. In the context of major changes in the global agrifood system and a situation in which some basic food security for the majority of the population has been achieved, a new view is required. The new view of agricultural development sees agricultural production as part of the agrifood system involving production and off-farm activities (storage, transportation, processing, retailing, trade) geared to generate higher value while meeting an increasingly complex consumer demand.
- 159. While the old stressed the role of technology to increase farm productivity, the new view considers coordination along the agrifood value chain as the main issue for agrifood system development.
- 160. In order to improve coordination, facilitating organizations will be needed in addition to appropriate policies, regulations, and infrastructure. Major emphasis should be given to institutions that allow technology, capital, and information to flow along the value chains from producers to consumers. The value chains include farmers, enterprises and service organizations (finance, research, NGOs, associations, regional planning agencies, local development).
- 161. For value chains to be effective, enterprises will be the leading actors. In most developing countries, enterprises have to link with smallholder farmers, since most of the agrarian structure in these countries is dominated by smallholder farmers. These linkages will not occur automatically. Even large enterprises will need favorable policy and infrastructure conditions; established lines of communication, sufficient power, and connectivity. Facilitating contracts and linkages with thousands and millions of smallholder farmers will imply overcoming communication and legal barriers.
- 162. The value chain approach recognizes and builds upon global trends in order to ensure that benefits could reach a large number of people, those who have been referred to as the "bottom of the pyramid". The corporate sector and the SME will need to reorient their strategies to meet the demands of this group of the population that represent a huge market potential.

#### 9. REFERENCES

Agrico, ANZDEC, et al. (2004a). Agribusiness Development in Bangladesh. Final Report for the Agribusiness Development Project GOB/ADB TA 4139-BAN. Dhaka, Bangladesh, Prepared for the Government of Bangladesh and the Asian Development Bank by Agrico Limited, New Zealand, in association with ANZDEC Limited, Agrifood Consulting International, Sodev Consult and HB Consulting: 663.

Agrico, ANZDEC, et al. (2004b). Agribusiness Marketing and Post-Harvest Systems in Bangladesh. Marketing Component Final Report for the Agribusiness Development Project GOB/ADB TA 4139-BAN. Dhaka, Bangladesh, Prepared for the Government of Bangladesh and the Asian Development Bank by Agrico Limited, New Zealand, in association with ANZDEC Limited, Agrifood Consulting International, Sodev Consult and HB Consulting: 663.

Agrifood Consulting International (2001). Policy Options for Using Livestock to Promote Rural Income Diversification and Growth in Viet Nam. Silver Spring, Maryland, Final Report submitted by Agrifood Consulting International to IFPRI for the Royal Embassy of Denmark in Viet Nam: 2 volumes: Volume 1: Text, pp.261; Volume 2: Tables and Figures, pp.252.

Agrifood Consulting International (2002a). Rice Value Chain Study: Cambodia. A Report Prepared for the World Bank. Phnom Penh, Cambodia, Agrifood Consulting International.

Agrifood Consulting International (2002b). Rice Value Chain Study: Viet Nam. A Report Prepared for the World Bank. Ha Noi, Viet Nam, Agrifood Consulting International.

Agrifood Consulting International (2004). The Value Chain for Tea in Viet Nam: Prospects for Participation by the Poor. Discussion Paper Prepared by Agrifood Consulting International for the Making Markets Work Better for the Poor Project. Hanoi, Viet Nam, Asian Development Bank.

Agrifood Consulting International (2005). Value Chain Analysis in the Northeast Region of Thailand. Bangkok, Thailand, World Bank.

ANZDEC, ACI, et al. (2003a). Nepal Commercial Agriculture Development Project: Final Report. ADB TA 3949-NEP, Volume 1: Main Report. Kathmandu, Nepal, ANZDEC, ACI and CMS for His Majesty's Government of Nepal (Ministry of Agriculture and Co-operatives) and the Asian Development Bank.

ANZDEC, ACI, et al. (2003b). Partnerships and Linkages in Commercial Agriculture in the Eastern Development Region of Nepal. Commercial Agriculture Development Project, Nepal, ADB TA 3949-NEP. Kathmandu, Nepal, A report prepared for the Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives, His Majesty's Government of Nepal, and the Asian Development Bank by ANZDEC Limited in association with Agrifood Consulting International and Consolidated Management Services Nepal: 521.

Asian Development Bank (2004). The Participation of the Poor in Agricultural Value Chains: A Case Study of Tea. A Report for the Making Markets Work Better for the Poor Project by the Informatics Center for Agricultural and Rural Development (ICARD), the Viet Nam Tea Research Institute (VTRI), the Research Institute for Fruits and Vegetables (RIFAV), and Agrifood Consulting International (ACI). Ha Noi, Viet Nam, Asian Development Bank.

BCAS (2001). The Costs and Benefits of Bagda Shrimp Farming in Bangladesh: An Economic, Financial and Livelihoods Assessment. Prepared for the Fourth Fisheries Project. Dhaka, Bangladesh, Bangladesh Center for Advanced Studies, DFID, World Bank.

Bensaou, M. (1999). "Portfolios of Buyer-Supplier Relationships." <u>Sloan Management</u> Review **40**(4): 35-44.

Bigsten, A., P. Collier, et al. (2000). "Contract Flexibility and Dispute Resolution in African Manufacturing." <u>Journal of Development Studies</u> **36**(4): 1-17.

Callois, J.-M. (2004). Can Quality Labels Trigger Rural Development? A Microeconomic Model with Co-operation for the Production of a Differentiated Agricultural Good. Working Paper 2004/6. Dijon, France, Centre d'Economie et Sociologie appliqués à l'Agriculture et aux Espaces Ruraux (CESAER).

Csaki (2004). Rethinking Rural Development: Lessons for CEE Countries.

Dolan, C., J. Humphrey, et al. (1998). Horticulture Commodity Chains: The Impact of the UK Market on the African Fresh Vegetable Industry. IDS Working Paper 96.

Brighton, United Kingdom, Institute for Development Studies, University of Sussex.

Eaton, C. and A. W. Shepherd (2001). Contract Farming: Partnerships for Growth. A Guide. FAO Agricultural Services Bulletin No. 145. Rome, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations: 182.

FAO (2000). The State of Food and Agriculture 2000. Rome, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.

Foster, A. D., and Mark R. Rosenzweig (2003). Agricultural Productivity Growth, Rural Economic Diversity, and Economic Reform: India, 1970-2000, Paper presented for the D. Gale Johnson Memorial Conference, October 25, 2003.

Gelderman, K. and A. v. Weele (2001). Advancements in the use of a Purchasing Portfolio Approach: A Case Study. Open University of the Netherlands. DL Heerlen, Netherlands.

Gereffi, G. (1999). <u>A Commodity Chains Framework for Analysing Global Industries</u>. Workshop on Spreading the Gains from Globalisation, University of Sussex, Institute of Development Studies.

Gibbon, P. (2003). Commodities, Donors, Value-Chain Analysis and Upgrading, UNCTAD.

Giraud, G. (2003). <u>Organic and Origin-Labeled Food Products in Europe: Labels for Consumers or from Producers?</u> Conference on Ecolabels and the Greening of the Food Market, Tufts University, Boston, MA.

Goldsmith, P., N. Turan, et al. (2003). <u>Food Safety in the Meat Industry: A Regulatory Quagmire</u>. International Food and Agribusiness Management Association Annual Meetings, Cancun, Mexico.

Goletti, F. (2004a). Agribusiness and Commercial Agriculture Short-Course. Presented By Agrifood Consulting International. Manila, Asian Development Bank.

Goletti, F. (2004b). The Participation of the Poor in Agricultural Value Chains. A Draft Research Program Proposal. Ha Noi, Viet Nam, Agrifood Consulting International for Making Markets Work Better for the Poor Project, Asian Development Bank.

Goletti, F., T. D. Purcell, et al. (2003). Concepts of Commercialization and Development. <u>Agrifood Discussion Paper Series</u>. Bethesda, MD.

Goodman, D. and M. Watts, Eds. (1997). <u>Globalising Food: Agrarian Questions and Global Restructuring</u>. London, Routledge.

Gow, H. R., D. H. Streeter, et al. (2000). "How Private Contract Enforcement Mechanisms Can Succeed Where Public Institutions Fail: The Case of Juhocukor A.S." <u>Agricultural Economics</u> **23**: 253-265.

Halliday, C., and John Pepper (2001). Sustainability through the Market. Seven Keys to Success, World Business Council for Sustainable Development.

Handfield, R. B., D. R. Krause, et al. (2000). "Avoid the Pitfalls in Supplier Development." Sloan Management Review **41**(1): 37-49.

Jaffee, S. (1994). Exporting High Value Food Commodities. Washington, DC, World Bank.

Kaplinsky, R. (1999). "Globalisation and Unequalization: What Can Be Learned from Value Chain Analysis." <u>Journal of Development Studies</u>: 117-146.

Kaplinsky, R. and M. Morris (2001). <u>A Handbook for Value Chain Research</u>. Brighton, United Kingdom, Institute of Development Studies, University of Sussex.

Kilkenny, M. and K. Daniel (2001). <u>Quality versus Quantity: Idle Resource and Scale Effects</u>. CGP Workshop: Barriers to Trade, Agriculture, and Public Procurement: Three Sensitive Issues, Moliets, France.

Klein, B. (1996). " Why Hold-Ups Occur: The Self-Enforcing Range of Contractual Relationships." Economic Inquiry **34**: 444-463.

Kraljic, P. (1983). "Purchasing Must Become Supply Management." <u>Harvard Business</u> <u>Review</u> **61** (September-October): 109-117.

Marsh, R. and D. Runsten (1995). <u>The Potential for Small Holder Fruit and Vegetable Production in Mexico: Barriers and Opportunities.</u> Paper presented at the XIX International Congress of the Latin American Studies Association, Washington.

Maxwell, S. (2004). Contribution to DFID Consultation on New Directions for Reducing Poverty, DFID.

Mayoux, L. (2003). Trickle-Down, Trickle-Up or Puddle?: Participatory Value Chains Analysis for Pro-Poor Enterprise Development, Enterprise Development Impact Assessment Information Service (EDIAIS).

Nellore, R. and K. Söderquist (2000). "Portfolio Approaches to Procurement - Analysing the Missing Link to Specifications." <u>Long Range Planning</u> **33**(2): 245-267.

Nellore, R. and J. E. Taylor (2000). "Using Portfolio Approaches to Manage Engineering-Purchasing-Supplier Interaction." <u>Production and Inventory Management</u> **41**(1): 6-12.

Olsen, R. F. and L. M. Ellram (1997). "A Portfolio Approach to Supplier Relationships." Industrial Management Marketing **26**: 101-113.

Patrick, I. (2003). Contract Farming in Indonesia: Smallholders and Agribusiness Working Together. ACIAR Technical Reports No. 54. Canberra, Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research: 88.

Ponte, S. (2000). "From Social Negotiation to Contract: Shifting Strategies of Farm Labor Recruitment in Tanzania Under Market Liberalisation." World Development **28**(6): 1017–1030.

Ponte, S. (2001). The 'Latte Revolution'? Winners and Losers in the Restructuring of the Global Coffee Marketing Chain. TCDR Working Paper 01.3. Copenhagen, Centre for Development Research.

Porter, M. E. (1980). <u>Competitive Strategy: Techniques for Analyzing Industries and Competitors</u>. New York, The Free Press.

Porter, M. E. (1985). Competitive Advantage. New York, The Free Press.

Poulton, C., P. Gibbon, et al. (2004). "Competition and Coordination in Liberalized African Cotton Market Systems." <u>World Development</u> **32**(3): 519-536.

Prahalad, C. K. (1993). "The Role of Core Competence In The Corporation." Research/Technology Management **36**: 40-47.

Prahalat, C. K. (2005). <u>The Fortune at the Bottom of the Pyramid</u>, Wharton School Publishing.

Reardon, T. and J. Berdegué (2002). "The Rapid Rise of Supermarkets in Latin America: Challenges and Opportunities for Development." <u>Development Policy Review</u> **20**(4): 371-388.

Reardon, T., Timmer, Peter C, Berdegué, Julio A. (2003). "The Rise of Supermarkets in Latin America and Asia: Implications for International Markets for Fruits and Vegetables." American Journal of Agricultural Economics 85(5).

Rich, K. (2004). Issues of Branding and Labeling: Applications to Value Chains in Vietnam. Concept Note. Hanoi, Vietnam, Agrifood Consulting International.

Rich, K. M. (2003). Stagnate or Innovate? The Unintended Consequences of Food Labeling Systems. Working Paper. Urbana, IL, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign.

Robbins, P. (2003). Stolen Fruit: The Tropical Commodities Disaster. London, Zed Books.

Roekel, J. v., R. Kopicki, et al. (2002). Building Agri Supply Chains: Issues and Guidelines. Rosmalen, the Netherlands, Agri Chain Competence Center.

Roekel, J. v., S. Willems, et al. (2002). Agri-Supply Chain Management. To Stimulate Cross Border Trade in Developing Countries and Emerging Economies. Washington, D.C., World Bank.

Schleyerbach, K. and R. Von Alvensleben (1998). <u>The Problem of Labeling and Branding Regional Products</u>. AIR-CAT Workshop "Consumer Preferences for Products of the Own Region/Country and Consequences for the Food Marketing", Ås, Norwegen.

Sen, A. (1981). <u>Poverty and Famines, an Essay on Entitlement and Deprivation</u>. Oxford, Clarendon Press.

Shepherd, A. W. (1993). A Guide to Marketing Costs and How to Calculate Them, Marketing and Rural Finance Service, Agricultural Services Division, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.

Shumpeter, J., A. (1991). <u>The Economics and Sociology of Capitalist</u>, Princeton: Princeton University Press.

Skaggs, R. (2004). The Future of Agriculture: Frequently Asked Questions. Technical Report 37, New Mexico State University. Agriculture Experiment Station. College of Agriculture and Home Economics.

Sykuta, M. and J. Parcell (2002). Contract Structure and Design in Identity Preserved Soybean Production. Contracting and Organizations Research Institute (CORI) Working Paper No. 2002-01. Columbia, MO, USA, University of Missouri - Columbia.

Taylor, D. (2004). The Nucleus Enterprise Model. Mimeo. Davao, Philippines.

UNCTAD (2000). Strategies for Diversification and Adding Value to Food Exports: A Value Chain Perspective. UNCTAD/DITC/COM/TM/1. Geneva, United Nations Conference on Trade and Development,.

USDA (2002). The US Food Marketing System, US Department of Agriculture - Economic Research Service.

Van Der Lans, I. A., K. Van Ittersum, et al. (2001). "The Role of the Region of Origin and EU Certificates of Origin in Consumer Evaluation of Food Products." <u>European Review of Agricultural Economics</u> **28**(4): 451-477.

van Weele, A. J. (2000). <u>Purchasing and Supply Chain Management: Analysis, Planning and Practice</u>. London, Thomsom Learning.

Vorley, B. (2003). Food, Inc.: Corporate Concentration from Farm to Consumer. London, UK Food Group and International Institute for Environment and Development.

Westgren, R. E. (1999). "Delivering Food Safety, Food Quality, and Sustainable Production Practices: The Label Rouge Poultry System in France." <u>American Journal of Agricultural Economics</u> **81**(5): 1107-1111.

Williamson, O. (1989). Transaction Cost Economics. <u>Handbook of Industrial Organization</u>. R. Schmalensee and R. D. Willig. Amsterdam, Elsevier Science Publishers B.V. **Volume I:** 136-182.

World Bank (1995). Vietnam: Poverty Assessment and Strategy. Washington, D.C., World Bank East Asia and Pacific Region Department.